Medialogy Master Thesis Interaction Thesis: MTA171030 May 2017



Comparison of Movements in Virtual Reality Mirror Box Therapy for Treatment of Lower Limb Phantom Pain

Ronni Nedergaard Nielsen

Bartal Henriksen

Dept. Architecture, Design & Media Technology Aalborg University Rendsburggade 14, 9000 Aalborg, Denmark

Summary

Context: Using Mirror Box Therapy (MBT) for treatment of Phantom Limb Pain (PLP) can reduce pain for some patients. The MBT has some limitations, such as: limited view through the mirror and the patient using it has to sit still to make the treatment work. Implementing the MBT to Virtual Reality (VR) can eliminate some of the limitations. Furthermore, using VR provides new possibilities to treat PLP.

Objectives: In this project, we investigate how anti-symmetrical mirroring compares to regular mirroring used in MBT for lower limb amputees, as several natural leg movements consist of moving anti-symmetrically, such as: walking, running and cycling. To further motivate the patients, a game is developed that uses cycling and swinging movements and incorporates them into goal-oriented tasks.

Methods: We implement the required movements into a game where the patient has to fly a gyrocopter through goal areas by using either symmetrical or anti-symmetrical movements. The experiments were implemented as a within-subject design, where the participants had to try the three versions of the game, and give preferential feedback.

Results: Two experiments were conducted. The preliminary experiment focused on the exertion rate of the three versions of the game. The findings showed that the cycling version was more exhausting than the swinging and symmetrical versions. Furthermore, we discovered that the required motions seemed too difficult and tiresome to do over a longer period of time. The final experiment focused on preferential data, and receiving feedback to the changes on the game implemented, after the findings from the preliminary experiment.

Conclusions: We found that anti-symmetrical movements are possible to use in VR MBT. However, the cycling motion was too strenuous for the participant to be able to perform over a longer period of time.

Keywords: Virtual Reality, Phantom Limb Pain, Mirror Box Therapy

Contents

1		Intr	oduc	tion
	1.	1	Rela	ated Work
		1.1.1		Virtual Mirror Box Therapy
	1.1.2		2	Body Ownership 4
	1.2	2	Sun	nmary6
2		Des	ign d	& Implementation7
	2.	1	The	Virtual Avatar
		2.1.	1	Calibration Phase
	2.2	2	Ani	mating the Avatar
	2.2		1	Upper Body Movement with HMD
		2.2.	2	Movement of Controlled Leg 10
		2.2.	3	Movement of Non-controlled Leg 10
	2.3	3	The	Gyrocopter
		2.3.	1	Movement and Orientation Restrictions
		2.3.	2	Adding Force to the Gyrocopter
		2.3.	3	User Input
		2.3.	4	The Panel
	2.4	4	The	Levels
		2.4.	1	Checkpoints
		2.4.	2	Bouncing Colliders
		2.4.	3	FPS Restrictions

3 Preliminary Test			nary Test	19	
	3.1	l	Des	sign and Participants	19
	3.2	2	Set	up	19
	3.2		.1	Borg Scale	20
	3.3	3	Pro	cedure and Participants	20
	3.4	1	Res	sults	21
		3.4.	.1	Exertion Rate	21
		3.4	.2	Leg Movements	22
		3.4	.3	Post-test Questionnaire Answers	23
	3.5	5	Dis	cussion	25
4	Final Ex			xperiment	27
	4.1	l	Cha	anges to the System	27
	4.2	2	Des	sign and Participants	28
	4.3	3	Set	up	28
	4.4	1	Pro	cedure	29
	4.5	5	Res	sults	30
	4.5		.1	Exertion Rate	30
	4.5		.2	Leg Movements	32
		4.5	.3	Game Data	36
		4.5	.4	The Virtual Avatar	39
	4.6	5	Dis	cussion	40
5		Coi	nclus	sion & Future Work	42
6		Bib	liog	raphy	44

Appendix A: Participant Game Description	. 47
Appendix B: Video Recorded Data	48

1 Introduction

When people have a limb amputated due to accident or surgery a condition called Phantom Limb Pain (PLP) can occur. PLP is pain experienced the in the amputated limb and occurs for up to 85% of the amputees [11,24]. The PLP can relate to a certain movement or position of the phantom limb, as well as physical factors, such as: changes in weather or pressure on the residual limb [8]. PLP is not the same as having a physical pain and therefore the same treatments, such as local anesthesia and muscle relaxant, are not effective in treating it [8]. Different hypotheses to why PLP occurs have been explored, but the reason is still not known. One theory suggests that PLP is caused by the cortical area in the brain. Every part of the body is connected to a specific cortical area in the brain which creates a cortical map. But following an amputation, reorganization in the sensorimotor cortex may occur, due to deprived sensory input to the brain after amputation [13]. When amputated, the cortical region representing the amputated limb may be taken over by nearby cortical regions representing other parts of the body [13,21].

However, a method called the Mirror Box Therapy (MBT) has shown promising results in reducing PLP for some patients [22]. The MBT works by providing an illusion for the patient that they regain the missing limb. This is achieved by placing a mirror perpendicular to the patient. This way the intact limb is mirrored onto the phantom limb, as seen in Figure 1 (left). If positioned correctly, this creates the illusion that the amputated limb is still present. Why MBT is successful is unclear, but one hypothesis is that the cortical map is reorganized over time through limb stimulation [8,21]. The MBT is used both for lower limb and upper limb amputees. In the MBT for lower limb amputees, more requirements are needed in order to establish the illusion, as seen in Figure 1 (right). The patient needs to sit on a bed or a couch and must look into a mirror from a specific angle to establish the illusion. If the patient moves or looks away, the illusion will break. The patient further has limited movement, as the sitting position requires them to bend forward in order to into the mirror, while putting their weight onto the leg.



Figure 1: (Left): A picture placed perpendicular to the patient, which creates the illusion of a missing limb being present [29]. (Right): The setup required in order to perform the MBT for lower-limb amputees [14].

1.1 Related Work

1.1.1 Virtual Mirror Box Therapy

While the traditional MBT has produced promising results for treatment of PLP, there are potential advantages of developing a virtual MBT concept. In a virtual environment, there are less physical restrictions to maintain the illusion of the virtual limb in the mirror, as the patient would not need to sit in a fixed position. Furthermore, virtual MBT also enables the possibility to apply the MBT exercises into more meaningful tasks and in more motivating environments, such as games.

The concept of a virtual MBT have been explored in the past decade, together with the advancing technologies in motion sensors and the use of head-mounted displays (HMDs) for depth perception in virtual and/or augmented environments. Several virtual MBT concept proposals have been developed and a few systems have been tested with PLP patients. These concepts use an HMD or custom made display setups to visualize the system, and while most concepts use a Virtual Reality (VR) representation [6,16,20,23,28], a few have also developed augmented reality systems that implement a virtual limb to a representation of the stump of the patient [18,26]. To track the movements of the patients, several systems have been proposed, such as applying motion-detection gloves, motion sensors, or pre-rendered motions. The systems tested have shown promising results, as the patients have experienced increased control of the phantom limb by using some these systems [6,16,20], and others have experienced a short-term reduce in pain [20,23] as a result of the VR experiences.

Applying Meaningful Movements

In MBT, the exercise types used by the patients vary depending on the pain and disability state of the patient [30]. For upper-limb amputees the exercises include finger movements, hand rotations and arm movements. The patient usually start with a small basic movement. The movement is then repeated until the patient feels comfortable and ready to move onto a more challenging move. A similar approach is used for lower-limb amputees. Here, the exercises used focus on specific purposes, such as bending the knee, moving the foot, rotating the ankle and toe movements [5].

Even though the amount of lower-limb amputees are a lot higher than upper-limb amputees [5], most studies have focused on developing different meaningful movements to upper-limb amputees, such as: basic movement of the upper limb [16,18,20], punching an object [16], grabbing and releasing objects [6,23,28] and flexing the fingers [26]. But there have only been a limited set of meaningful movements explored for lower-limb amputees, such as kicking an object or tapping a drum pedal [6,16]. Furthermore, while the concepts proposed try to apply meaningful movements to the MBT exercises, most focus on applying standard mirrored movements. This makes sense as mirrored movements often occur when using both upper-limbs at the same time. The movements used with the phantom limb in the MBT, have a greater effect if they "feel" natural for the patient for them to be convinced they are moving their phantom limb [2]. This indication was found during a previous study, where three different mirrored applications were developed: (1) grabbing and releasing boxes, (2) pressing mirrored buttons and (3) a "bending game" in which the patient had to bend a virtual rod with both hands into different angles. While all three versions were able to apply meaningful movements, only the bending game was able to activate the feeling of using the phantom upper-limb when tested on an amputee [2]. Based on these results, we hypothesized that by applying mirrored movements, which required the use of both lower-legs would help lower-limb patients feel they used both their intact and phantom leg when playing the games [17]. Here, two different games were developed: (1) a shape game, where the user needed to move both feet into symmetrical square boxes in different angles, and (2) a slingshot game, where the user needed to grab the handle of a slingshot by doing a grabbing motion with their toes, aim the handle by moving their feet and release the handle by releasing their toes (see Figure 2). However, following an experiment with healthy subjects and a test with a lower-leg amputee, it was discovered that the mirroring movements were not enough, as the movements were either too abstract or too mundane [17]. It should be noted that this experiment also indicated the games were constraining to do as they required the participants to move their legs up in the air, in order to do the required movements.



Figure 2: (left): the shape game, develop in the previous semester, (right): the slingshot game.

Therefore, in order to develop a VR MBT concept that encourages the use of both lowerlimbs, the concept developed must use motions that feel natural to do with both legs. Furthermore, the setup needs to be developed so it does not constrain the legs of the user, as these constraints would interfere with the overall experience and may stop the user from using both legs.

1.1.2 Body Ownership

In order to apply a virtual avatar as a convincing representation of the physical limbs in the virtual environment, it is important to consider which factors play a part in developing such a representation. Therefore, it is necessary to understand how to develop body ownership with a virtual avatar, for the user to feel the body belongs to them and they are the ones performing the actions. Body ownership can be defined as sensing which body parts belong as a part of our body and which does not. Establishment of body ownership is done through the input of multiple sensors working together to define what belongs to our body and what does not. Body ownership can be seen as a combination of the sense of agency; "*that I am the one who is causing or generating the action*" and the sense of ownership; "*that I am the one undergoing this experience*" [9]. Body ownership is established through multiple

sensory inputs working together, like: vision, tactile feedback, kinesthetic sense and the proprioceptive sense, i.e. the sense of one's own bodily position. It is possible to achieve the feeling of body ownership without input from all senses as long as the inputs are not contradicting [1,4]. It is also possible to establish body ownership with external limbs, such as a physical artificial or a virtual limb [25]. When establishing body ownership with artificial body parts it is necessary to consider the factors that plays into the establishment. These factors can be put into three focus areas: (1) sensory synchronicity [4,7], (2) positioning of the external limbs [4,10] and (3) sensory acceptance [2,12,27].

Sensory Synchronicity

In order to establish body ownership with an artificial body part, the sensory input must be synchronous. If the inputs are synchronous, it is possible to achieve body ownership with an artificial body part, within 10-30 seconds [7]. However, contradicting input will break the illusion [4]. When developing a virtual avatar it is therefore necessary to make sure the visual movements of the virtual avatar corresponds to how the user feels the real limbs are moving, based on their proprioceptive- and kinesthetic senses. Furthermore, if the frames per second of the virtual representation is too low, this will develop lagging movements of the virtual avatar, which may contradict with the sensory input.

Limb Positioning

While the positioning of the artificial limbs are important based on the positioning of the real limbs, it is possible to establish ownership with an external limb that is positioned up to 24 cm away from the real limb [4,10]. When the establishment of ownership for the artificial limb has occurred, it is possible to maintain the illusion even if the positioning between the real and artificial limb changes, as long as this shift of placement is not an abrupt shift [10]. The human body will adjust to the mental limb positioning of the active limb, in what is called the "proprioceptive drift" [4]. Therefore, as long as the body ownership has been established, it is possible for the virtual limbs to drift into incorrect positions at times, as long the drift is not into too extreme.

Sensory Acceptance

As mentioned earlier, it is not possible to establish ownership with an artificial limb, if different sensory input contradict with each other. For example, having both the real and artificial limb within visual range will make it impossible to establish body ownership, as it is only possible to establish ownership with one of the limbs at a time [12]. Furthermore, the external limb must be within an acceptable visual shape in order to establish ownership. For example, a wooden squared hand is too abstract to develop ownership, but a rubber hand is not [27]. Furthermore, it is possible to establish ownership with a robotic hand as long as it behaves as a human hand [2]. However, if the artificial or virtual body part appears almost like a real body part, but not completely, the user can develop an eerie feeling and dislike the body part [15]. Therefore, if a complete replica of the real body part should be used, it should be done through filmed or augmented implementations. The size of the virtual limbs are also important to consider as a correctly sized virtual body, compared to the given user, will create better results, though it does not need to be the exact size [25]. Therefore, creating a completely identical virtual body would not be necessary. The virtual avatar in this project should represent the participant well enough in size and proportions and should look somewhat close to their real body.

1.2 Summary

While the long term goal is to design a VR version of MBT to alleviate PLP, the goal for this project is to encourage movement of both legs, and engage users by having them play a game while using both legs. The focus of this project is on lower-limb amputees and antisymmetrical movements. The anti-symmetrical movements are implemented and compared with standard symmetrical movements. The user will be sitting down and having the feet above the ground to not constrain the legs. The avatar used should be able to visually represent the movements the user is making, such as: bending the knee, moving the foot, and rotating the ankle. Furthermore, the movements of the avatar should be synchronous with the user's movements to achieve body ownership to the avatar.

2 Design & Implementation

It was decided to develop a system using VR technology that applied mirroring methods other than standard mirroring for lower-limb MBT. Therefore, three movement versions for the game were developed; two anti-symmetrical movements and a regular mirrored version for comparison:

- (1): Anti-symmetrical version: This version is based on a simple anti-symmetrical movement, such as walking, as the user needs to move the controlled leg in a back and forward swinging motion, as seen in Figure 3, (1). The mirrored limb then follows this motion in an anti-symmetrical manner.
- (2): Cycling version: This version is based on applying cycling motions. Here, the user needs to perform circular motions with the controlled leg, as seen in Figure 3, (2). The mirrored leg then performs inverted movements, so the leg will do anti-symmetrical movements both in the up/down and forward/backwards directions.
- (3) Symmetrical version: In this version the user needs to move the controlled leg in a back and forward motion, similar to the anti-symmetrical version. However, here the mirrored leg follows this motion. The purpose of this version is to use as a control version for comparison.



Figure 3: The three movement versions used in the game: (1) The anti-symmetrical version, (2) The cycling version, and (3) the symmetrical version.

The user applies one of the three movements to control the altitude level of a gyrocopter. The game consist of yellow transparent checkpoints that the user has to fly into, to collect points.

2.1 The Virtual Avatar

The avatar used was found through the Unity asset store. The two avatar models used in this project are free-to-use "Lite" versions of avatars developed by the Morph3D team [31]. The avatars fit nicely to this project as both the male and female are built for the Unity Animator system with the models in an accepted T-pose and with bones correctly attached. When playing the game, the user is able to control one leg of the avatar through the HTC Vive controllers. The other leg moves based on the input of the controlled leg by either mirroring the movements (standard), mirroring anti-symmetrically backwards and forwards (anti-symmetrical), or mirroring anti-symmetrically backwards and forwards, and upwards and downwards (Cycling). Since the focus should be on the legs, the arms were moved back so the user would not see them. The head of the avatar was moved away from sight, because it would interfere with the cameras from the HMD. A picture of the avatar can be seen in Figure 4.



Figure 4: The male avatar used for the game.

2.1.1 Calibration Phase

Before being able to control the avatar, a calibration phase is initiated. The user is instructed to sit in a specific position with the legs at the same height and the feet pointing directly forwards towards where the user is looking. The HTC Vive controllers are attached to the thigh and foot of the user. The position of the controlled foot and knee is calibrated using the position and orientation of where the user is sitting. A picture of the seating position in the calibration phase can be seen in Figure 5. When calibrating, the position of the avatar moves to where the HMD is located in the VR environment. The avatar switches to a seating position and the controlled leg of the avatar is positioned where the user's controllers are situated in the VR environment. The scaling of the avatar can be adjusted to fit the size of the user. This is done to have the controls and mirroring of the avatar as precise as possible.



Figure 5: Calibration phase position.

2.2 Animating the Avatar

2.2.1 Upper Body Movement with HMD

When the user is moving the upper body in the VR environment, the avatar follows along. This is achieved by rotating the spine of the avatar in relation to the position of the HMD. This is an important feature because the user sees the upper body of the avatar, and therefore the movements of the avatar must move realistically with the user. See Figure 6.

```
(null != headBone && calibrationProcess ==
                                                   true
249
     {
250
         Vector3 lookDir = headMarker.position - chestBone.position;
251
         Vector3 forward1 = Vector3.Cross (lookDir, helicopter.transform.right);
252
253
         //Apply parent rotation (inverse) * new look rotation, using the forward and look directions
         animator.SetBoneLocalRotation (HumanBodyBones.Spine, Quaternion.Inverse (spine.parent.rotation)
254
255
          Quaternion.LookRotation (forward1, lookDir));
         *
256
```

Figure 6: Moving the upper body of the avatar.

2.2.2 Movement of Controlled Leg

The controlled leg is animated based on the position and orientations of the HTC Vive controllers attached to the leg of the user. An offset position of the controller which is attached to the foot is applied as a target of the controlled foot. See Figure 7. The *lfMarkerAnchor* applies an offset so the position of the controller fits the ankle joint of the avatar. The animator IK (Inverse Kinematics) component then adjusts the leg so it moves accurately based on the current foot position. The other controller attached to the thigh is used to set the orientation of the upper leg. This is done by applying the position of the controller by using the *SetIKHintPosition*. See Figure 7, line 276-277. This function is used to hint a position of the knee of the avatar.

```
296 animator.SetIKPosition (AvatarIKGoal.LeftFoot,
297 swapControllers.activeFoot.TransformPoint (lfMarkerAnchor));
298 animator.SetIKRotation (AvatarIKGoal.LeftFoot, swapControllers.activeFoot.rotation);
```

```
275 animator.SetIKHintPositionWeight (AvatarIKHint.RightKnee, 1.0f);
276 animator.SetIKHintPosition (AvatarIKHint.RightKnee,
277 swapControllers.activeLeg.TransformPoint (new Vector3 (0.0f, 0.05f, 0.0f)));
```

Figure 7: (Top script): Moving the foot, based on the controller position. (Bottom): Moving the knee.

2.2.3 Movement of Non-controlled Leg

Mirroring

We used the same method as we did on 9th semester, except this time we had the avatar at position (0,0,0,) which made it easier to calibrate the mirror position. The mirroring of the position is done by using the inverse position of the controlled foot in the X-axis (left and right for the user), and using the same Y and Z position. The mirroring of the rotation is done by using the Unity vector3.Reflect function which takes a vector and reflects this

position off a plane, i.e. a plane's normal that is perpendicular to its surface [32]. The Vector3.Reflect takes two arguments: A mirror plane and the vector to reflect. In this project the mirror plane is defined in the calibration phase by orientation of the HMD, and the vector to reflect is the orientation of the controller attached to the foot. This can be seen in Figure 8, line 311-314. To get the inverted position, the controller position is subtracted to the mirror plane. The rotation is mirrored by applying the Unity *SetLookRotation*, which uses the Quaternion.SetLookRotation to create a rotation with specified forward and upwards directions [33].

```
//Standard Mirror Position to other foot
303
    if (swapLegControls.legMirrorVersions == 0)
304
    {
305
        Vector3 mirroredPos = new Vector3 (-swapControllers.activeFoot.TransformPoint (lfMarkerAnchor).x,
306
        swapControllers.activeFoot.TransformPoint (lfMarkerAnchor).y,
        swapControllers.activeFoot.TransformPoint (lfMarkerAnchor).z);
307
308
        animator.SetIKPosition (AvatarIKGoal.RightFoot, mirroredPos);
309
310
        //Mirror Rotation to other foot
311
        reflectedRotation.SetLookRotation (Vector3.Reflect (swapControllers.activeFoot.transform.forward,
312
         calibMirrorPlane.mirrorNormal), Vector3.Reflect (swapControllers.activeFoot.transform.up,
313
        calibMirrorPlane.mirrorNormal));
314
         animator.SetIKRotation (AvatarIKGoal.RightFoot, reflectedRotation);
315
```

Figure 8: Script of the standard mirroring.

Anti-Symmetrical

In the anti-symmetrical mirroring version, the same principle of standard mirroring applies with an added extension. The anti-symmetrical version uses a point that is positioned between the legs of the avatar. A new Z-value that is applied to the Z-axis, is calculated from this point which makes the mirrored leg move in the opposite forward and backward direction. The rotations were inversed in the X-axis, but with some minor adjustments to make the mirrored rotation look more natural when the feet were far apart from each other. The anti-symmetrical function can be seen on Figure 9.

```
'Swinging Mirror Position to other foot
     if (swapLegControls.legMirrorVersions == 1)
319
320
     {
321
         float newZvalue = swingPos.position.z - zDistOffset;
322
         Vector3 mirroredPos = new Vector3 (-swapControllers.activeFoot.TransformPoint (lfMarkerAnchor).x,
         swapControllers.activeFoot.TransformPoint (lfMarkerAnchor).y, newZvalue);
323
324
         animator.SetIKPosition (AvatarIKGoal.RightFoot, mirroredPos);
325
326
         //Mirror Rotation to other foot
327
         reflectedRotation.SetLookRotation (Vector3.Reflect (swapControllers.activeFoot.transform.forward,
328
         calibMirrorPlane.mirrorNormal), Vector3.Reflect (swapControllers.activeFoot.transform.up,
329
         calibMirrorPlane.mirrorNormal));
330
         Vector3 newRot = reflectedRotation.eulerAngles;
331
332
         animator.SetIKRotation (AvatarIKGoal.RightFoot, Quaternion.Euler (-newRot.x + 25.0f, 180.0f, 0.0f));
333
```

Figure 9: Applying anti-symmetrical movements.

Cycling

The cycling movement is done in the same manner as anti-symmetrical, along with a new Y value to make the legs move up and down anti-symmetrically. The function can be seen in Figure 10.

```
//Cycling Version: Mirror Foot Position to other foot
336 if (swapLegControls.legMirrorVersions == 2)
337 {
338
        float newZvalue = swingPos.position.z - zDistOffsetCycling;
339
        float newYvalue = swingPos.position.y - yDistOffset;
340
341
        Vector3 mirroredPos = new Vector3 (-swapControllers.activeFoot.TransformPoint (lfMarkerAnchor).x,
342
        newYvalue, newZvalue);
343
        animator.SetIKPosition (AvatarIKGoal.RightFoot, mirroredPos);
344
345
        //Mirror Rotation to other foot
346
        reflectedRotation.SetLookRotation (Vector3.Reflect (swapControllers.activeFoot.transform.forward,
347
        calibMirrorPlane.mirrorNormal), Vector3.Reflect (swapControllers.activeFoot.transform.up,
        calibMirrorPlane.mirrorNormal));
348
349
        Vector3 newRot = reflectedRotation.eulerAngles;
350
        animator.SetIKRotation (AvatarIKGoal.RightFoot, Quaternion.Euler (-newRot.x, newRot.y, newRot.z));
351
```

Figure 10: The cycling movement.

2.3 The Gyrocopter

In order to apply the three different leg movements into more purposeful applications, it was decided to let the user control a gyrocopter through these movements. The features of a gyrocopter is similar to a standard helicopter, just designed in a much smaller scale and typically only have room for the pilot. Gyrocopters often have no, or only a few, windows. Therefore the pilot has an almost clear view around their position. A gyrocopter has rotator blades on top of the chassis to apply the upwards force and a set behind to apply forward

motion. The main difference between standard helicopters and gyrocopters is the velocity and altitude capabilities, as gyrocopters are not capable of achieving the same velocities or altitudes as standard helicopters. A gyrocopter model was developed to imitate a real gyrocopter to some degree, with features such as a wing-tail and rotor-blades. Features from a real cockpit panel were implemented. Other features needed to be designed so they would fit the requirements for applying the different leg movements. The gyrocopter developed for this project can be seen in Figure 11.



Figure 11: The gyrocopter used in the games. (Left): side view, (middle): front view, (right): perspective view.

Within the virtual gyrocopter the user is positioned onto a high-chair within the gyrocopter cabin. The user is positioned so the virtual legs are hanging down from the chair, but without touching the ground. The user controls the upward and downward movement of the gyrocopter through one of the three leg movements, depending on which version is activated by the facilitator, and a forward motion is applied automatically in a steady motion, after the user decides to take off. In order to avoid an unsettling feeling of hanging in the air, it was decided to implement a full chassis to the gyrocopter, but with windows to keep the visual range as high as possible. A big front window was implemented and small windows were applied to the sides. Furthermore, the floor of the chassis was included with small windows to help navigating the helicopter when going downwards and to encourage the user to look down towards the legs.

2.3.1 Movement and Orientation Restrictions

In order to avoid discomfort when playing the game, it was important to design the gyrocopter so the virtual world orientation did not change, compared to the real orientation of the user. Therefore, the orientation of the gyrocopter was locked into the same orientation and only movements in the Y (up/down) and Z (forward) axes could be applied.

2.3.2 Adding Force to the Gyrocopter

Motion was applied to the gyrocopter using the Unity physics engine. The gyrocopter was applied with a Rigidbody, a mass of 100 kg, and had force applied in the upwards and forward motion, depending on the status of the game. Gravity was applied to the gyrocopter, which meant a constant force of 9.81m/s2 in the Y-axis was applied at all times. To compensate the gravity a constant upward force of 800 was applied to the gyrocopter to simulate a slow downward pace. Whenever the user applied force, a base amount was applied to the gyrocopter in the Y-axis. However, if the gyrocopter was moving down at certain velocity, more force would needed to compensate. Therefore, a function was implemented to check the current velocity status of the gyrocopter in the Y-axis at the time the user would apply force. The function then compensated for the current velocity by either adding more force to the thrust applied by the user, or by reducing the amount, if the gyrocopter reached a certain positive velocity. Furthermore, the function would also check if the gyrocopter reached a certain downward velocity and then add more force. This was done to prevent the gyrocopter from falling down at a pace too high to be comfortable to experience. Forward motion was applied automatically when the user started the game by lifting the gyrocopter above the ground. The forward force applied made the gyrocopter accelerate to a certain velocity. When this velocity was reached, the gyrocopter would stop applying force and stay in the same velocity.

2.3.3 User Input

The user was able to decide when to apply the upward force through their leg movements. This was done by tracking the change in position in the Z-direction of the given HTC Vive controller attached to the foot, as seen in Figure 12, and comparing the new position with the position in the previous frame. The current position of the gyrocopter was taken into account for each frame, as seen in line 39. Whenever the user moved the leg, and thereby also the controller above a preset velocity, force was applied to the gyrocopter. This forced the user to move the feet at a certain pace in order to move the gyrocopter. This approach was used for both the symmetrical and the anti-symmetrical versions of the game. However, in the cycling version the change in Y-position was also included. This was done to make sure the user would be able to apply force when doing circular motions.

```
38 //Force Manager HTC VIVE Controller -----//
39 zDirection = swapControllers.activeFoot.position.z - gyroCopter.transform.position.z;
40 velocity = (zDirection - lastZ) / Time.deltaTime;
41 lastZ = zDirection;
```

Figure 12: How the system checked for the current change of position of the controlled HTC Vive controller in the zdirection.

2.3.4 The Panel

In order to help the user navigate the gyrocopter, a panel was designed which visualized different type of information about the flight and game status. The panel was positioned in a low position compared to the position of the user as this allowed the user to look at the features on the panel while still being able to have the virtual legs within their line of sight. The panel setup can be seen in Figure 13.



Figure 13: The position of the gyrocopter panel and virtual avatar of the user.

The panel included features designed for different purposes. An overview of the panel can be seen in Figure 14. The features of the panel includes:

- *Navigational tools*: A GPS screen (Figure 14, number. 1) was implemented which displayed a real-time top-down view of the gyrocopter. Its main purpose was to visually view the distance from the gyrocopter to the nearest checkpoint, which was indicated on the screen as a yellow circle. An altitude meter was implemented (Figure 14, number 3), which displayed the current height of the gyrocopter through a red arrow and the altitude of the nearest checkpoint, displayed through a green arrow.
- *Point system*: A small screen displaying amount of points gathered was positioned in the middle of the panel for the user to easily view their current score.
- Speedometer: A speedometer was positioned to the far right (see Figure 14, number 4) of the panel. The speedometer helped the user viewing the current speed of the gyrocopter and to help explain when the gyrocopter was accelerating. Similar to the altitude meter, the current speed was visualized through a red arrow.



Figure 14: An overview of the panel in the gyrocopter. (1): the GPS screen, (2): the point system, (3): the altitude meter, and (4): the speedometer.

2.4 The Levels

Two levels were developed for the gyrocopter game. Both levels take place in an open world with water and small islands. The open world was chosen to avoid a claustrophobic environment. The two levels are approximately the same length, but the designs are different as level one was designed for the preliminary experiment and level two for the final experiment.

2.4.1 Checkpoints

To encourage the user to apply leg movements through the level at certain velocities, checkpoints were added throughout the level, as seen in Figure 15. The checkpoints are semi-transparent and rotate clockwise at a slow, steady pace. They are provided with a box collider and a *OnCollisionEnter()* script that checks if the gyrocopter collides with the checkpoint. If so, the user is awarded with a point and a "bling" sound is played and the checkpoint disappears. However, if the user misses the checkpoint, either by flying beneath or above it and thus not hitting the collider, no points are awarded and a negative "buzz" sound is played.



Figure 15: The checkpoints used in the game.

2.4.2 Bouncing Colliders

Altitude restrictions were applied to the game, to make sure the gyrocopter did not fly too high in the air or below the water surface. Whenever the gyrocopter would drop to 5 meters above the water surface, a force would be applied which gently bounced the gyrocopter up with about 10 meters. Similarly, if the gyrocopter would increase its altitude to 250 meters, no force would be able to be applied until the gyrocopter would drop in height. As the levels also had islands included with different altitudes, bouncing colliders were applied manually above the surface, as seen in Figure 16. These colliders were applied with an *OnCollisionStay()* function and would continuously apply a small force to the gyrocopter until it bounced upwards and exited the collider again.



Figure 16: The bouncing colliders applied throughout the levels.

2.4.3 FPS Restrictions

In order to withhold the frame rate at an acceptable level, some restrictions were necessary to apply. Many objects in the level were removed or simplified to lower the amount of objects needed to be rendered. Furthermore, a plane with a simplified water shader was applied. Lastly, the clipping plane of the head-mounted display was reduced to 2000. This means that the user would not be able to look all the way to the finish-line, from start. But this range was still wide enough to make it hard to notice the edges of the ocean, and to have the islands visible at all times.

3 Preliminary Test

This section describes a preliminary experiment which evaluated the exertion rate of the three different types of movements, used in the game.

3.1 Design and Participants

Based on our previous semester project [17], it was hypothesized that some leg movements may cause a high exertion level, which limits the usability of these movements as the exercises in the game should be playable for several minutes. Besides the exertion rate, the performance of the three different leg movements were evaluated. Finally, the participants were to rank which version they preferred to check if they favored one of the anti-symmetrical versions, compared to the symmetrical mirrored version. Therefore, we looked into the following focus areas:

- To evaluate the exertion rate of the participant, following the completion of each version in the fatigue level
- The performance of the movements required in each of the three game versions
- Which version of the game was preferred

9 healthy participants were recruited at Aalborg University to participate in the experiment. The experiment was conducted in a within-subject design as all participants were instructed to play through all three versions of the game. The order of play was randomized in a counterbalanced order, to remove carry-over effects.

3.2 Setup

The experiment was conducted in a controlled environment in a lab at Aalborg University. The participants were instructed to sit on a high metal chair at a specific location in the lab as seen in Figure 5 in chapter 3. The experiment was conducted using an HTC Vive head mounted display and two controllers attached to the controlled leg. The controllers were attached through a custom made Velcro and rubber band setup as seen in Figure 17. Following each movement version, the participants were instructed to rate the exertion level,

based on a Borg rating scale. This rating was conducted following the completion of a single version, as their exertion rate would still be fresh in their memory and the participants would get a small rest period before the next iteration. The leg performance was evaluated through ranked answers using Likert-Scale item questionnaires.



Figure 17: The setup of the controllers.

3.2.1 Borg Scale

The Borg Scale is a way of measuring physical activity intensity level. Perceived exertion is how hard you feel like your body is working. It is based on the physical sensations a person experiences during physical activity, including increased heart rate, increased respiration or breathing rate, increased sweating, and muscle fatigue. Although this is a subjective measure, a person's exertion rating may provide a fairly good estimate of the actual heart rate during physical activity [3].

3.3 Procedure and Participants

The participants received a brief introduction to the test and had the controllers applied to the left leg. The participants were then introduced to the three different movement versions, as a facilitator sat on the chair and visually showed the movements needed. Following the introduction, the participants were instructed to complete a level while hitting as many of the checkpoints as possible. The level takes about 3.20 minutes to complete. The checkpoints in this level are positioned in waves, i.e. long up- and down going movements, which encourages the participants to apply continuous legs movements for longer periods of time.

This was designed with the purpose of having the participants applying the leg movements for a steady amount of time. Following the completion of a level, the participant was asked to complete a questionnaire in which they rated the exertion level and performance of the leg movements of the given version. Following the completion of all three versions a posttest questionnaire was answered.

3.4 Results

9 students in the age of 21-27 from Aalborg University participated in the experiment. All participants had previous experience with virtual reality and 4 participants were using virtual reality regularly.

3.4.1 Exertion Rate

The exertion rate of the participants were evaluated through the Borg scale rating [3]. The Borg scale rating ranges from 6 to 20, with 6 being equal to "no fatigue at all", 9 being "very light exercise - like walking slowly", 13 being "somewhat hard, but still manageable", 17 being "very strenuous - the person needs to push himself and gets very tired, and 20 - "extremely strenuous". The numbers range from 6 to 20, because they somewhat correlate with the heart rate of the participant, if multiplied by 10.

The participants did not feel the standard symmetrical version was exhausting to play as it received a mean value of 9.53, which is similar to "very light exercise" and only one participant rating it above 11, as seen in the box plot in Figure 18. The anti-symmetrical version also received a low exertion rating as the mean answer was 9.33 and also only one participant rating this version above 11. The cycling version, however, received a mean answer of 13.89 which corresponds to "somewhat hard".





Following each version the participants were asked to specify which kind of discomforts they experienced, if any. The symmetrical movement version received 3 "yes" and 6 "no". The discomforts were: (1) strained muscles, (2) blurred vision and (3) sweating under the HMD. The anti-symmetrical version received 1 "yes": (1) sweating under the HMD and 8 "no". The symmetrical received 5 "yes" and 4 "no". The discomforts included: (1) strained muscles, (2) sweating under the HMD and (3) Other: "mild pain in hip-area".

3.4.2 Leg Movements

The leg movements were evaluated through two Likert-scale questions, ranging from 1: strongly disagree to 7: strongly agree. The two questions were (1): "I found the leg movements easy to perform", and (2): "The leg movements felt natural to perform".

Both the standard symmetrical movements and the anti-symmetrical received positive results, as both received a median value of 7: strongly agree, both a mean value of 6.44 and with a low answer variance, as seen in Figure 19. The cycling version received mixed results as the answers had a variance of 2.50 with a mean value of 4.67.



Figure 19: Answers to (1): "I found the leg movements easy to perform".

When asked if the movements felt natural to perform, the answers were similar to the previous question, as both the standard and anti-symmetrical movements received positive results and the cycling received neutral results, as seen in Figure 20. The symmetrical movements received a mean answer of 6.11 and the anti-symmetrical received a mean answer of 6.22. The cycling received a mean answer of 4.44 with a high variance of 2.78.



Figure 20: Answers to (2): "The leg movements felt natural to perform".

3.4.3 Post-test Questionnaire Answers

Following the playthrough of all three versions, the participants were asked to rank them. First, they were asked to "Rate which game you preferred (from favorite to least favorite)" and had to choose one game as the "favorite", one as "second favorite" and the last as the "least favorite". Hereafter, the participants were asked to rank the game versions from mostto least exhausting. They had to choose one game as the "most exhausting, one as the "second most exhausting" and the last one as the "least exhausting".

As seen in Figure 21, the anti-symmetrical version was preferred by the majority of the participants, as five participant chose this as their favorite and four as their second favorite version. The symmetrical and cycling version received similar results, with two choosing the symmetrical as the favorite and two choosing the cycling. The cycling version was the least favored version, as five of nine participants chose this version as their least favorite.



Figure 21: The ranked results of the favored game versions.

When asked to rank the exhaustion rate, the cycling version were rated as the most exhausting by all nine participants. The symmetrical and anti-symmetrical versions received similar results, with anti-symmetrical receiving five favorite votes and symmetrical receiving the last four votes, as seen in Figure 22.



Figure 22: The ranked results of least to most exhausting game versions.

The participants were asked to evaluate to which degree they felt they used both legs during each of the game versions. This was done through a 7-point Likert-scale, ranging from 1: Not at all, to 7: All the time. The answers can be seen in Figure 23. The symmetrical version

received a 5.67 mean with a high variance of 2.75. The anti-symmetrical version received a mean answer of 5.89 and with a variance of 1.87. Finally, the cycling version received a mean answer of 6.33 and with all answers ranging from 5 and above on the Likert scale.



Figure 23: The answers to "How much did you use both legs during the game".

3.5 Discussion

The symmetrical and anti-symmetrical movements generally received positive results. The anti-symmetrical received the lowest scores in the exhaustion rate, but the symmetrical only scored a bit higher. Both versions felt natural and easy to perform by the users. It can therefore be concluded that both versions feel natural to perform, but with the anti-symmetrical movements being the favorite by the participants.

The fatigue experiment showed that the cycling version was a lot more exhausting to complete compared the other versions, and the participants felt the cycling version felt less natural and harder to perform. These results are most likely affected by the high exhaustion rate of the cycling version, but also indicates that it is hard to conduct proper circular cycling movements in the air, which was required to apply the correct force in the cycling version. These incorrect cycling movements resulted in less force applied to the gyrocopter and forced the participants to cycle at a higher pace, in order to achieve the wanted altitude. Some participants still preferred the cycling version and all participants felt they used both legs in this version to a high degree. Therefore, the cycling version should be improved in order to make it easier for the user to understand how to do a proper cycle to apply force to the gyrocopter correctly. By doing this, the exhaustion rate may be lowered in this versions to an acceptable level.

The results from the use of both legs may have been biased because when the facilitator visually demonstrated the three movements, both legs were used. Therefore in the final experiment, it should be clear to the participants that they can decide for themselves if they want to use both legs.

4 Final Experiment

This section describes how we evaluated and tested the different movements applied to the gyropter. The experiment further focused on the usability of the system and the perception of the virtual avatar used in the game.

4.1 Changes to the System

In order to reduce the exertion rate of the cycle game and to help clarify how to correctly apply force, the force system of the gyropter was modified as a result of the preliminary experiment findings. The new version applies force after the user has completed a full sequenced leg motion, and all three versions now apply the same amount of force when one full sequence has been applied. Furthermore, a "flight light indicator", i.e. a light explaining the current status of the leg movement, was included to help the user understand when force was applied, as seen in Figure 24. The light indicator is split into five areas, four surrounding areas and a middle light. The four surrounding areas visualize the current status of the sequence applied by the leg motions. For example, if the participant is playing the cycling game, each piece of the four areas represent one quarter of a full cycle motion. Whenever the participant applies the correct motion, a sequence lights up in a yellow color. When a full sequence is correctly applied, the middle area lights up and a clicking sound is played. This indicates that the user has applied the motions in a correct manner, and force is applied to the gyrocopter.



Figure 24: The flight light indicator. In this example, the participant has completed half of the sequence necessary to apply force to the gyrocopter.

4.2 Design and Participants

Besides reducing the exertion rate of the cycling version, another focus in this experiment was to evaluate how much the users applied movement to both legs, in order to find out if the versions encouraged movement of both legs. Furthermore, the anti-symmetrical movements, which are not applicable in a standard MBT session, were compared to the symmetrical version. Finally, the overall usability of the system was evaluated. Therefore, the following focus areas were created:

- The exertion rate of each movement was measured, following the completion of the level for each movement version.
- The amount of movement applied to both legs during each version of the game were evaluated, in order to compare the two anti-symmetrical versions to the mirrored version.
- Evaluating the overall usability of the system and the virtual avatar.

18 healthy participants were recruited at different sites in Aalborg University to the experiment. The experiment was conducted as a within-subject design as all participants were instructed to play through all three versions of the game. The order of play was randomized in a counterbalanced order, in order to remove any carry-over effects.

4.3 Setup

The experiment was conducted in a controlled environment at Aalborg University. The participants were instructed to sit on the edge of a high table when playing through the three versions of the game, as seen in Figure 25. The high table replaced the high metal chair from the previous experiment to remove some external noise. The table added more stability to the seating position, whereas the metal chair would shake or move when the participant applied fast paced leg movements. The participants were equipped with two HTC Vive controllers similarly to the preliminary experiment. A camera was setup to record the leg movements for all participants in each version. The footage was used to check if the participants used one, or both legs to apply the force cycles, how they applied the leg movements and to count how many of each force cycles were applied. The cycles were

moreover used to find how much of the cycles were done with both legs, compared to the total number of cycles. Following the completion of a single playthrough, the participants answered questionnaires concerning the exertion rate of the given version through a Borg rating scale, and to rate the leg movements through Likert-scale questions. A post-test questionnaire with focus on the overall usability and the virtual avatar was conducted following the last session of the game. These questions are also rated through Likert-scale questions.



Figure 25: The setup used in the experiment.

4.4 Procedure

The participants were initially instructed to sign a consent form and to read a short description of the test, including instructions to how to control the gyrocopter, the three

different movement versions and an overview of the different features in the panel of the gyrocopter. The description further clarified the possibility to play the game using either one or both legs, in order to reduce bias towards one approach. The description can be found in Appendix A. The participants would hereafter equip the controllers and HMD, and be seated in the correct position. Following the introductory part, the participants would complete the level of the game in each of the three versions, in a counterbalanced order. A new level was designed for this experiment and completion took about 3.30 minutes. The checkpoints in this level are positioned in alternating positions, in order to have the participants to look up and down for the next checkpoint. This was done to encourage the users to make use of the helping features in the gyrocopter panel. Following each version, the participants were instructed to complete a questionnaire, in order to get the exertion results while they were still in their recent memory and to get a short break from the game. After all three game iterations were completed, the participants completed the post-questionnaire.

4.5 Results

This experiment was conducted with 18 participants in the age of 21-37 (5 females and 13 males) with an average age of 25.9 years. The participants were mainly students from various educations at Aalborg University. All participants had some, but various, experiences with using Virtual Reality prior to this experiment.

4.5.1 Exertion Rate

The exertion rate was evaluated following each iteration through a Borg scale rating. The Borg scale was used using the same preferences as in the preliminary experiment. The exertion results can be seen in the box plots in Figure 26. The symmetrical and anti-symmetrical versions did not indicate to have a high exertion rate as their respective answered mean value were 9.06 for the symmetrical and 9.56 for the anti-symmetrical version, with 9 being relative to walking slowly. The cycling version however received a mean answer of 13.39, which is about "hard, but manageable" and a median of 14.

Compared to the previous fatigue experiment, with the changes in the force function and the addition of the "flight light indicator" to help visualizing the force applied, the symmetrical
and anti-symmetrical versions received almost identical results. Their respective mean value changes were: (1) symmetrical: -0.47 and (2) anti-symmetrical: 0.23. The cycling version had the exertion rate lowered, as the mean value changed with (3) cycling: -0.50. Following each iteration, the participants were instructed to explain if they experienced any discomfort during the level. In the symmetrical and anti-symmetrical versions, two participants experienced discomfort, while 16 did not. In the cycling version, ten participants explained they felt a type of discomfort, while eight did not. The main discomfort types included: (1) strained muscles, (2) sweating under the head-mounted display and (3) sweating in general. No participants experienced nausea in any of the three versions.



Figure 26: The exertion rate of each of the three version, based on a BORG scale rating.

Following the three iterations of the game the participants were instructed to rank the three versions in terms of how exhausting there were. They were asked to rank the three versions from (1) least exhausting, (2) second most exhausting and (3) most exhausting. As seen in Figure 27, the symmetrical version was chosen as the least exhausting version with 11 choosing this version and 6 choosing the anti-symmetrical version. This corresponds with the exertion rate data, as the symmetrical and anti-symmetrical versions are rated close to each other in the Borg scale for the exertion rate, but with the symmetrical version being less exhausting. The cycling version was ranked as the most exhausting version by 17 of 18 participants, which also corresponds with the results from the Borg scale.



Figure 27: The three version ranked in terms of exhaustion, ranked from (1) least exhausting, (2) second most and (3) most.

4.5.2 Leg Movements

The leg movements of the participants were filmed in order to evaluate the use of both legs during each of the three versions of the game. In each version, the number of completed cycles were counted, and split into either "one leg" counters or "both leg" counters. Full data from the evaluated filmed movements can be found in Appendix B. The results from the data set includes:

- (1) Symmetrical: In the symmetrical version both legs were used overall 92.5% of the time, as 15 of the participants used both legs while applying force all the time, two used both legs during the majority of the cycles and one used both legs in only 8.3% of the time, as seen in Table 1, row (1). It was further noted that three participants would alternate between using the correct symmetrical movements to anti-symmetrical movements in some cases, either in the beginning of the level or when having to apply a high pace.
- (2) Anti-symmetrical: Overall the participants used both legs 88.4% of the time during the anti-symmetrical movements, as seen in Table 1, row (2). Here, 13 of the participants used both legs at all times, while three used both more than half of the time and two only used both in about ¹/₃ of the time. One participant was noted applying symmetrical movements in the beginning, but changed to the correct anti-symmetrical movements after a short while.
- (3) Cycling: Overall both legs were used 96% of the time as 15 participant used both legs all the time and 3 used both legs more than half of the time. One participant

would only use one leg while applying force once, while using both in higher paced areas. Even though many used both legs, how they used the legs varied. Two participants would apply small circular motions, while two would apply flat swinging motions which looked close to the anti-symmetrical motions. Finally, one participant applied motions that looked similar to running motions.

Since the data is not normally distributed, a Friedman's test was used. The use of both legs for the participants was not significantly different between the three versions, 2(2) = 0.888, p > .05 (p = 0.6412).

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18
(1)	100	8.3	100	100	100	81.4	100	100	100	100	73	100	100	100	100	100	100	100
(2)	100	100	100	100	89.1	50.6	100	100	77.1	100	100	100	37.4	100	36.1	100	100	100
(3)	100	87.3	100	100	64.8	100	100	77.1	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100

Table 1: How much both legs were used in full cycles, in percentage.

 First line (1) is the symmetrical version, (2) anti-symmetrical and (3) is the cycling version.

Following each version, the participants were instructed to evaluate the leg movements through five Likert Scale questions ranked from 1: strongly disagree to 7: strongly agree. The participants found the leg movements required in the symmetrical and anti-symmetrical versions easy to perform as the mean answers were 6.22 and 6.33 respectively with 17 of 18 participants agreeing in both questions, as seen in Figure 28. The cycling version received a mean answer of 4.37, which indicate the participants did not feel the cycling version were particularly easy to perform.



Figure 28: Question (1): "I found the leg movements easy to perform".

When asked if the symmetrical and anti-symmetrical leg movements felt natural to perform the mean answer was 5.89 for both answers, as seen in Figure 29, which indicates the participants felt these versions were natural to perform. However, the cycling version received mixed answers with a mean of 4.22 and a large variance of 3.71, which indicates not everyone found the cycling movements natural.



Figure 29: Question (2): "The leg movements felt natural to perform".

When asked if the leg movements felt consistent with their real leg movements, the symmetrical version received a mean answer of 6.11 and the anti-symmetrical 6.00, as seen in Figure 30. Furthermore, in both versions 17 of 18 participants agreed to some degree on this question. The cycling version generally got positive results as the mean answer was 5.11 and 13 agreeing to some degree.



Figure 30: Question (3): "The leg movement felt consistent with my real leg movement(s)".

When asked if the participants understood how to make the gyropter move upwards, all answer received positive results, as the means answers were: 6.61 for the symmetrical, 6.67 for the anti-symmetrical and 6.33 for the cycling version, as seen in Figure 31.



Figure 31: Question (4): "I understood how to make the helicopter move upwards".

Finally, when asked if it was easy to apply the movements required to make the gyrocopter fly upwards, the symmetrical and anti-symmetrical versions received positive results, as the mean answers were 6.11 for both versions, as seen in Figure 32. The cycling version received mixed results as the mean answer was 4.40 with a large variance of 2.84.



Figure 32: Question (5): "It was easy to do the movements required to fly the helicopter upwards".

4.5.3 Game Data

Following the three iterations of the game, the participants were instructed to rank the games as (1) favorite version, (2) second favorite and (3) least favorite version. As seen in Figure 33, the anti-symmetrical version was the favorite game version, as 11 chose this as their favorite and six chose it as their second favorite. The cycling was their least favorite, with 14 choosing this version as their least favorite game version.



Figure 33: The preferred versions, ranked by (1) favorite version, (2) second favorite version and (3) least favorite version.

During each game version the participants were instructed to hit as many checkpoints as possible throughout the level, with 17 points being the maximum amount of points for one round. As seen in Figure 34, the symmetrical version achieved a mean score of 12.39 and a variance of 8.84. The anti-symmetrical achieved similar results with an average of 12.22 and variance of 10.89, while the cycling achieved lower scores with the mean score being 9.56 and the variance 10.03. Since the data is not normally distributed, a Friedman's test was used. The score differed significantly between the three versions, 2(2) = 10.522, p < .05 (p)

= 0.0052). Wilcoxon test was used to follow up this finding. A Bonferroni correction was applied and so all effects are reported at a 0.025 level of significance. It appears that the Cycling version had a significantly lower score than the Symmetrical version, T = 144, p = 0.0113. There was not a significant difference in score between the Symmetrical and Anti-symmetrical versions, T = 61.5 p = 0.9543.



Figure 34: Boxplots of the scores in the symmetrical, anti-symmetrical and cycling game.

Following the three iterations the participants were instructed to answer nine Likert-scale item questions, based on the usability of the system. The answers can be seen in box-plots in Figure 35. The nine questions were: (1) "I quickly learned how to fly the helicopter", (2) "I was satisfied with the visual feedback of the "flight light indicator"", (3) "I was satisfied with the audio feedback of the "flight light indicator", (4) " To which degree did you use the altitude meter?", (5) "I was satisfied with the visual feedback of the visual feedback of the altitude meter", (6) "To which degree did you use the GPS screen?", (7) "I was satisfied with the visual feedback of the GPS screen", (8) " I understood how I was awarded points" and (9) "I was satisfied with the audiovisual feedback from the checkpoints (the yellow circles)". Question (4) and (6) ranged from 1: Not at all to 7: All the time, while the other questions ranged from 1: Strongly disagree to 7: Strongly agree.

Question (1) received a mean answer of 5.72 which indicates the participants learned how to fly the helicopter. The visual and audio feedback from the "light indicator" received positive results as question (2) received a mean answer of 5.33 and question (3) received a mean answer of 6.33. However, the altitude meter and the GPS screen received mixed answers, as the mean answer of question (5) was 4.44 and question (7) was 4.06, both with a large variance. These mixed answers makes sense as the altitude meter was only used by 3 participants to some degree and the mean answer for question (4) was 2.50. As for the GPS Screen, no participants used it and the mean answer for question (6) was 1.28. All participants understood how they were awarded points as question (8) received a mean answer of 6.67 and the checkpoints received positive audio and visual feedback with a mean answer of 6.11 for question (9).



Figure 35: The box-plot answers for the nine usability Likert-scale questions.

4.5.4 The Virtual Avatar

The final part of the post-test questionnaire consisted of four Likert-scale questions with focus on the establishment of body ownership with the virtual avatar [19]. All four questions were ranked from 1: strongly disagree to 7: strongly agree. Box-plots of the answers can be seen in Figure 36. The four questions were (10) "The virtual body felt proportionate to my real body", (11) "I felt that the movements of the virtual body were caused by my own movements", (12) "Even though the body I saw might not physically look like me, I felt that the virtual body I saw when I looked down towards myself was my body", and (13) "The body I saw in the virtual world physically looked like me".

The participants felt the avatar was proportionate to their body to some degree as question (10) received a mean answer of 5.44 and no participants disagreeing. Therefore, the scaling of the avatar during the calibration phase seems to be working. For question (11) the mean answer was 6.50, which indicate the movements of the avatar were convincing and was caused by their own movements. This was further confirmed as the mean answer for question (12) was 5.56 with only one participant disagreeing. Even though the participants felt the virtual avatar represented their own body, it did not look like their own, as question (13) received a mean answer of 3.83 and six participants agreeing.



Figure 36: Boxplots answers of the questions regarding the virtual avatar.

4.6 Discussion

The participants used both legs to a high degree in all three versions and there was no significant difference between them. As the three versions applied force through the same system, it would indicate that applying the cycling motions was a lot harder, compared to the other two versions. Therefore it was not the difference in the force input that was applied in the preliminary test that was the cause of the exertion rate, but rather the cycling movements themselves. One reason for the high exertion rate for the cycle game could be the increased amount of movements overall, as the participants needed to lift their legs besides applying the swinging motions. Furthermore, it was noted that the participants used different approaches to apply the cycling motions; some would apply small circular motions and do well in the game, while others would apply very flat cycling motions which did not help applying the force correctly. One reason for this could be that the flight light indicator did not work sufficiently in explaining if the motions applied were correctly. However, in the post-test questionnaire, the participants generally agreed that they were satisfied with the light indicator and they approved of the visual and audio feedback received. So, another reason for the difficulties applying the cycling motion could be that applying cycling motions with the feet in the air without the help of physical pedals is not a movement that is easy to apply naturally and in a stable cycling motion.

In regards to the symmetrical and anti-symmetrical versions, both received a low exertion rate score on the Borg scale, with the symmetrical version being marginally lower. But the anti-symmetrical version was favored by most participants. Furthermore, it should be noted that some participants would change from symmetrical to anti-symmetrical movements within the same level. This could indicate that the anti-symmetrical swinging motions indeed are natural movements, though not significantly more than the symmetrical.

The participants felt they quickly learned how to control the gyrocopter and understood how to apply force to the gyrocopter. They felt it was easy to understand how to apply force in the symmetrical and anti-symmetrical versions, but some had problems understanding how to apply force in the cycling. This was probably caused by the cycling version being exhausting and that the participants had problems applying the correct movements. The participants generally did seem to improve at the games to some degree, but they did not use the GPS screen or the altitude meter when playing. This could indicate that these features were not necessary for the participants to complete the game, though their scores may have been increased if they did use them. Either way, these features were not enough to encourage the participants to look down onto the panel. However, the participants did use the flight light indicator. The participants understood how they received points and were satisfied with the visual and audio feedback from the checkpoints.

The participants generally felt the virtual avatar was proportionate to their real body, though the median answer was between slightly agree and agree. However, this is sufficient to establish sensory acceptance to the virtual limbs. This was further confirmed as the participants felt they were the ones causing the movements of the avatar and felt the body belonged to them. Therefore it seems the visual representation of the avatars worked satisfactory.

5 Conclusion & Future Work

One of the goals of this project was to test if the three movements chosen, symmetrical, antisymmetrical and cycling, encouraged the use of both legs when playing the game. This was evaluated by counting the percentage of how much the participants used both legs in each game. The evaluation showed that all three games did encourage the use of both legs, as the symmetrical version resulted in 92.5%, the anti-symmetrical did 88.4% and the cycling did 96%.

Another focus of the project was to compare if the anti-symmetrical movements were more natural to perform, compared to the standard symmetrical version. This was done by comparing the use of both legs in the anti-symmetrical versions and comparing them with the symmetrical. Furthermore, the versions were compared by having the participants ranking the versions. This did not show any significant difference between the versions in using both legs. However, the anti-symmetrical version was the favored version. This indicates that the anti-symmetrical swinging movements are at least as favorable to apply as the standard symmetrical. The cycling, however, was not well received and the participants did not find it easy to perform. The symmetrical and the anti-symmetrical version did not seem to be too exhausting to perform. However, the cycling version was significantly more exhausting to perform compared to the other versions. This finding suggests that the cycling version cannot be used for VR MBT, because the patients have to perform these exercises over a longer period of time. To address the issue of the cycling version, a physical pedal could be used where patients could feel some resistance while pushing the pedal. Furthermore, the patients would be guided by the pedal and would perform a correct sequence every time.

The avatars worked satisfactory as the participants felt the movements of the avatar were caused by their own movements. Therefore it can be concluded that the avatar did apply the sensory input synchronously to the expectation of the user and that the limb positioning of the avatar was acceptable. Furthermore, the participants felt the visual representation of the avatar was proportionate to their real body, and felt they were looking at their own body. Therefore, the avatars were able to comply with the requirements for establishing sensory acceptance.

The goal of the game was clear for the participants and they understood how to control the gyrocopter. The game did encourage to use their legs as they tried to reach all the checkpoints throughout the levels. However the GPS screen and the altitude meter were not used by the participants. In a future version these features should be re-evaluated to help the participants perform better in the game.

Overall, it can be concluded that anti-symmetrical movements can be used in the same manner as symmetrical movements in VR MBT for lower-limb amputees.

6 Bibliography

- 1. K. Carrie Armel and Vilayanur S. Ramachandran. 2003. Projecting sensations to external objects: evidence from skin conductance response. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences* 270, 1523: 1499–1506.
- 2. Bartal Henriksen, Ronni Nielsen, Laszlo Szabo, Nicolaj Evers, Martin Kraus, and Bo Geng. 2016. An Affordable Virtual Reality System for Treatment of Phantom Limb Pain. In *VRIC*. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1145/2927929.2927932
- 3. Gunnar Borg. 1982. Psychophysical bases of Perceived Exertion. In Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise 14, 5: 377-381.
- 4. Matthew Botvinick, Jonathan Cohen, and others. 1998. Rubber hands' feel'touch that eyes see. *Nature* 391, 6669: 756–756.
- 5. Eric E. Brodie, Anne Whyte, and Bridget Waller. 2003. Increased motor control of a phantom leg in humans results from the visual feedback of a virtual leg. *Neuroscience letters* 341, 2: 167–169.
- 6. Jonathan Cole, Simon Crowle, Greg Austwick, and David Henderson Slater. 2009. Exploratory findings with virtual reality for phantom limb pain; from stump motion to agency and analgesia. *Disability and Rehabilitation* 31, 10: 846–854. https://doi.org/10.1080/09638280802355197
- H. Henrik Ehrsson, Charles Spence, and Richard E. Passingham. 2004. That's My Hand! Activity in Premotor Cortex Reflects Feeling of Ownership of a Limb. *Science* 305, 5685: 875–877. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1097011
- 8. Herta Flor. 2002. Phantom-limb pain: characteristics, causes, and treatment. *The Lancet Neurology* 1, 3: 182–189.
- 9. Shaun Gallagher. 2000. Philosophical conceptions of the self: implications for cognitive science. *Trends in cognitive sciences* 4, 1: 14–21.
- 10. H. Henrik Ehrsson and Zakaryah Abdulkarim. No causal link between changes in hand position sense and feeling of limb ownership in the rubber hand illusion. *Atten Percept Psychophys* 2015. https://doi.org/10.3758/s13414-015-1016-0
- 11. Carolien M. Kooijman, Pieter U. Dijkstra, Jan HB Geertzen, Albert Elzinga, and Cees P. van der Schans. 2000. Phantom pain and phantom sensations in upper limb amputees: an epidemiological study. *Pain* 87, 1: 33–41.
- 12. Joan Llobera, María Victoria Sanchez-Vives, and Mel Slater. 2013. The relationship between virtual body ownership and temperature sensitivity. *Journal of The Royal Society Interface* 10, 85: 20130300.
- 13. M. Lotze, W. Grodd, N. Birbaumer, M. Erb, E. Huse, and H. Flor. 1999. Does use of a myoelectric prosthesis prevent cortical reorganization and phantom limb pain? *Nature Neuroscience* 2, 6: 501.

- 14. Donna Miles. Mirror therapy shows promise in amputee treatment. U.S. Air *Force*. Retrieved May 20, 2017 from http://www.af.mil/News/Article-Display/Article/124603/mirror-therapy-shows-promise-in-amputee-treatment/
- 15. M. Mori, K. F. MacDorman, and N. Kageki. 2012. The Uncanny Valley [From the Field]. *IEEE Robotics Automation Magazine* 19, 2: 98–100. https://doi.org/10.1109/MRA.2012.2192811
- 16. Craig D Murray, Emma Patchick, Stephen Pettifer, Toby Howard, Fabrice Caillette, Jai Kulkarni, and Candy Bamford. 2006. Investigating the efficacy of a virtual mirror box in treating phantom limb pain in a sample of chronic sufferers. *International Journal on Disability and Human Development* 5, 3. https://doi.org/10.1515/IJDHD.2006.5.3.227
- 17. Ronni Nielsen, Bartal Henriksen, Martin Kraus, and Bo Geng. Comparison of Body Positions in Virtual Reality Mirror Box Therapy for Treatment of Phantom Limb Pain in Lower Limb Amputees. *Comparison of Body Positions in Virtual Reality Mirror Box Therapy for Treatment of Phantom Limb Pain in Lower Limb Amputees*: 2.
- 18. Max Ortiz-Catalan, Nichlas Sander, Morten B. Kristoffersen, Bo Håkansson, and Rickard Brånemark. 2014. Treatment of phantom limb pain (PLP) based on augmented reality and gaming controlled by myoelectric pattern recognition: a case study of a chronic PLP patient. *Frontiers in Neuroscience* 8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2014.00024
- 19. Sofia Adelaide Osimo, Rodrigo Pizarro, Bernhard Spanlang, and Mel Slater. 2015. Conversations between self and self as Sigmund Freud—A virtual body ownership paradigm for self counselling. *Scientific Reports* 5, 1. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep13899
- 20. M. Osumi, A. Ichinose, M. Sumitani, N. Wake, Y. Sano, A. Yozu, S. Kumagaya, Y. Kuniyoshi, and S. Morioka. 2017. Restoring movement representation and alleviating phantom limb pain through short-term neurorehabilitation with a virtual reality system. *European Journal of Pain* 21, 1: 140–147. https://doi.org/10.1002/ejp.910
- 21. Vilayanur S. Ramachandran and William Hirstein. 1998. The perception of phantom limbs. The DO Hebb lecture. *Brain* 121, 9: 1603–1630.
- 22. Vilayanur S. Ramachandran and Diane Rogers-Ramachandran. 1996. Synaesthesia in phantom limbs induced with mirrors. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences* 263, 1369: 377–386.
- 23. Kenji Sato, Satoshi Fukumori, Takashi Matsusaki, Tomoko Maruo, Shinichi Ishikawa, Hiroyuki Nishie, Ken Takata, Hiroaki Mizuhara, Satoshi Mizobuchi, Hideki Nakatsuka, Masaki Matsumi, Akio Gofuku, Masataka Yokoyama, and Kiyoshi Morita. 2010. Nonimmersive Virtual Reality Mirror Visual Feedback Therapy and Its Application for the Treatment of Complex Regional Pain Syndrome: An Open-Label Pilot Study. *Pain Medicine* 11, 4: 622–629. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1526-4637.2010.00819.x
- 24. Richard A. Sherman, Crystal J. Sherman, and Laura Parker. 1984. Chronic phantom and stump pain among american veterans: results of a survey: *Pain* 18, 1: 83–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-3959(84)90128-3

- 25. Mel Slater, Daniel Pérez Marcos, Henrik Ehrsson, and Maria V. Sanchez-Vives. 2009. Inducing illusory ownership of a virtual body. *Frontiers in neuroscience* 3: 29.
- 26. Jörg Trojan, Martin Diers, Xaver Fuchs, Felix Bach, Robin Bekrater-Bodmann, Jens Foell, Sandra Kamping, Mariela Rance, Heiko Maaß, and Herta Flor. 2013. An augmented reality home-training system based on the mirror training and imagery approach. *Behavior Research Methods* 46, 3: 634–640. https://doi.org/10.3758/s13428-013-0412-4
- 27. Manos Tsakiris, Lewis Carpenter, Dafydd James, and Aikaterini Fotopoulou. 2010. Hands only illusion: multisensory integration elicits sense of ownership for body parts but not for non-corporeal objects. *Experimental Brain Research* 204, 3: 343–352.
- 28. Andrea R. Zweighaft, Greta L. Slotness, Alisha L. Henderson, Leland B. Osborne, Sarah M. Lightbody, Lauren M. Perhala, Paris O. Brown, Nathaniel H. Haynes, Steven M. Kern, Pooja N. Usgaonkar, and others. 2012. A physical workstation, body tracking interface, and immersive virtual environment for rehabilitating phantom limb pain. In *Systems and Information Design Symposium (SIEDS), 2012 IEEE*, 184–189. Retrieved February 29, 2016 from http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/xpls/abs_all.jsp?arnumber=6215131
- 29. Center for Brain and Cognition, UC San Diego Research. Retrieved May 20, 2017 from http://cbc.ucsd.edu/~lseckel/haiti.html
- 30. Noi Mirror Box Notes for Users. *Noi Mirror Box Notes for Users*.
- 31. Morph3D. Retrieved May 20, 2017 from https://www.morph3d.com/about
- 32. Unity Scripting API: Vector3.Reflect. Retrieved May 20, 2017 from https://docs.unity3d.com/ScriptReference/Vector3.Reflect.html
- 33. Unity Scripting API: Quaternion.SetLookRotation. Retrieved May 20, 2017 from https://docs.unity3d.com/ScriptReference/Quaternion.SetLookRotation.html

Appendix A: Participant Game Description

The purpose of this experiment is to try out three different leg movements to control a helicopter. The three leg movements are: symmetrical swinging, anti-symmetrical swinging, and cycling. The goal of the game is to try to hit the targets floating in the air by using your legs to fly upwards. You will get two Vive controllers mounted to your left leg, one on the foot and one on the thigh. These controllers measure your leg movements.

How to control the helicopter:

Once you're up in the air, the helicopter will move forward automatically. You only control the helicopter's upward motion.

Symmetrical swinging: Move your legs back and forth in a symmetrical manner. **Anti-symmetrical swinging**: Move one leg backwards while moving the other forward. **Cycling**: Do a cycling motion with your legs. One full cycle pushes the helicopter upwards.

You can decide for yourself if you want to use both legs, or only the controlled legs



Cockpit overview:

1. GPS screen:

a. The red circle on the GPS screen shows where you are on the map

b. The yellow circles indicate the position of checkpoints

2. Score screen:

. Displays the points awarded throughout the level. You get a point when you hit a yellow checkpoint circle.

3. Flight light indicator:

- The flight light visualises the current status of the full cycle.
- a. One full cycle = upwards force

4. Altitude meter:

. The altitude meter indicates the current height of the helicopter. This is indicated by the **red arrow** on the altitude meter

a. The green arrow visualises the height of the next checkpoint in the level

If you have any questions, feel free to ask us anytime.

Appendix B: Video Recorded Data

The tables are set up as followed: (1) Participant number, (2) symmetrical, (3) antisymmetrical and (4) cycling version. The percentages the amount of times the participant did a full sequence while using either both legs or one leg.

Participant 01	Symmet	Symmetrical		etrical	Cycling	
	Both legs:	100%	Both legs:	100%	Both legs:	100%

Participant 02	Symmetrical		Сус	ling	Anti-symmetrical		
	One Leg:	91,7 % (66 swings)	Both Legs:	87,3% (55 swings)	Both Legs	100% (52 swings)	
	Both Legs*:	6,9 % (5 swings)	One Leg:	12,7% (8 swings)			
	Both Legs:	1,4 % (1 swing)					
	* Swung legs a	nti-symmetrical					

• Symmetrical: Tried different approaches in the beginning, but ended up using only the tracked leg

• Cycling: Sometimes swung with one leg when doing single cycles

Participant 03	Anti-syn	nmetrical	Symn	netrical	Cycling		
	Both Legs: 96,3% (103 swings)		Both legs:	100% (52 swings)	Both legs:	100% (100 swings)	
	Both Legs*: 3,7% (4 swings)						
	* Swung legs	symmetrical					

Anti-symmetrical: Used symmetrical swings in the beginning

Participant 04	Anti-syn	nmetrical	Сус	Cycling		Symmetrical	
	Both Legs:	Both Legs: 100% (56 swings)		100% (91 swings)	Both legs:	100% (97 swings)	

Participant 05	Сус	ling	Symr	netrical	Anti- symmetrical	
	One Leg:	35,2% (24 swings)	Both legs:	100% (70 swings)	Both Legs:	89,1% (82 swings)
	Both Legs:	32,4% (22 swings)			One Leg:	10,9% (10 swings)
	Both Legs*:	32,4% (22 swings)				
	* swung the other lea instead of cycling mo					

• Cycling: Used both legs in the beginning, but stopped after a while

Participant 06	C	/cling	Anti-syr	mmetrical	Symmetrical		
	One Leg:	100% (103 swings)	Both legs:	50,6% (43 swings)	Both Legs:	42,7% (32 swings)	
			One Leg:	49,4% (42 swings)	Both Legs*:	38,7% (29 swings)	
					One Leg	18,6% (14 swings)	
					* anti-symmet	rical swings	

- Anti-symmetrical: Alternated between one and both legs
- Symmetrical: Started using one leg
 Symmetrical: When having to do high pace movements, the symmetrical movements were changed to anti-symmetrical

Participant 07	Symmetrical		Anti-syr	nmetrical	Cycling		
	Both Legs: 100 (98 sw		Both legs:	100% (86 swings)	Both legs:	100% (100 wings)	

• Cycling: Did very small cycle motions, but circular motions

Participant 08	Symm	netrical	Сус	Cycling		Anti-symmetrical		
	Both Legs:	100% (81 swings)	Both legs:	95,6% (87 swings)	One Leg:	100% (96 swings)		
			One Leg:	4,4% (4 swings)				

• Cycling: Did one leg movements when only doing single cycles.

Participant 09	Anti-syn	nmetrical	Symn	Symmetrical		cling
	Both Legs:	Both Legs: 77,1% (64 swings)		100% (91 swings)	Both legs:	100% (86 swings)
	One Leg:	22,9% (19 swings)				

• Cycling: Cycle motion is closer to a running motion. Not much circular motion

Participant 10	Anti-symme	Anti-symmetrical		g	Symmetrical		
	Both Legs:	100%	Both legs:	100%	Both legs:	100%	

• Cycling: Very flat cycle motions, not much circular motion

Participant 11	Су	cling	Symn	Symmetrical		nmetrical
	One Leg: 100% (91 swings)		Both legs:	73% (73 swings)	Both legs:	100% (99 swings)
			One Leg:	27% (27 swings)		

Participant 12	Cycling		Anti-syr	Symmetrical		
	Both 100% Legs: (121 swings)		Both legs*:	80,2% (81 swings)	Both legs:	100% (100 swings)
			Both legs:	19,8% (20 swings)		
			* moved both legs in a anti- symmetrical "jagged" motion			

• Cycling: Very flat cycle motions, not much circular motion

Participant 13	Symmetrical		Anti-syı	mmetrical	Cycling	
	One Leg: 100% (61 swings)		One Leg:	62,6% (57 swings)	Both legs:	100% (76 swings)
			Both legs:	37,4% (34 swings)		

Participant 14	Symmetrical		Cycling		Anti-symmetrical	
	One Leg:	100% (19 swings)	One Leg:	100% (73 swings)	One Leg:	100% (71 swings)

Participant 15	Anti-symmetrical		Symn	netrical	Cycling	
	One Leg: 63 (39 s		Both legs:	100% (92 swings)	Both legs:	100% (67 swings)
	Both Legs: 36,1% (22 swings)					

Participant 16	Anti-symmetrical		Сус	cling	Symmetrical	
	Both Legs: 100% (75 swings)		Both legs:	100% (82 swings)	Both legs:	100% (71 swings)

Cycling: Small circular cycle motions

Participant 17	Cycling		Symn	netrical	Anti-symmetrical	
	Both Legs:	100% (66 swings)	Both legs:	100% (77 swings)	Both legs:	100% (96 swings)

Participant 18	Cycling		Anti-syr	nmetrical	Symmetrical	
	Both Legs:	100% (67 swings)	Both legs:	100% (61 swings)	Both legs:	100% (58 swings)